
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

MINUTES 
 

April 15, 2025 
 

Hybrid Meeting  
 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 
Planning Commission Special Meeting Agenda April 15, 2025 – Zoom Link 
Meeting ID: 946 9138 2256 
Passcode: 227847 
 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Terry Carter, Chair   Jean Strong Ted Stryhas       
Ryan Silvestri   

 
MEMBERS ABSENT: 

Judy Pullinen 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 

Rose Goings Charlotte Galley 
(ZOOM) 

Chief Ben Whalen 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: 

Eric Alden Scott Baitz Noah Schmidt  Select Board Rep 
Nick Arduini Lauren Nazzaro Lisha Klaiber 

 
 

I.            CALL TO ORDER   
 

1. Terry Carter called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 
 

II.            ROLL CALL BY SECRETARY 
 

1. All members are present, except Judy Pullinen 
 
  

III.            OPENING STATEMENT BY CHAIR 
 

1. Terry Carter welcomed everyone.  She said that comments from citizens will not be taken for 
the working Agenda Items numbers 7 through 10.  She added that there is no point in being 
repetitious. 

 
 

IV.            CONSIDERATION OF ANY CHANGES, ADDITIONS OR REMOVALS TO THE AGENDA 
 

1. Terry Carter suggested that the agenda be changed to add Discussion of Short Term Rentals 
after Review of Minutes.  She said that she, Ryan Silvestri and Jean Strong attended the Select 
Board meeting and they sent this back to the Planning Commission to work with Chief Whalen 
regarding Occupancy and Fire/Safety. 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

2. MOTION by Terry Carter and seconded by Ryan Silvestri to add discussion of Short 
Term Rentals Discussion after Review of Minutes.  Motion passed unanimously. 

3. MOTION by Jean Strong and seconded by Terry Carter to accept the amended agenda.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

4. MOTION by Ryan Silvestri and seconded by Jean Strong to move Agenda Item X- 
REVIEW VENDOR PERMIT POLICY AS REQUESTED BY VILLAGE TRUSTEES to 
after Review of Minutes and Short Term Rentals Discussion.  Motion passed 
unanimously. 

5. MOTION by Terry Carter and seconded by Ryan Silvestri to accept the amended agenda.  
Motion passed unanimously.  

6. New number added for STR, Vendor ordinance in agenda order 
 
 

V. COMMENTS FROM CITIZENS  (5 minutes) 
   

1. Eric Alden said that under State Statute, the board the board must vote on the Rules of 
Procedure at the reorganization meeting. This board has not done that for a number of years. It 
seems like this is a personal agenda item by the Chair – who can or cannot be on this board and 
this board does not have the authority to decide.  The Select Board can’t appoint non-residents.  
You do not have the authority to dictate who can or cannot be on this board. This board has 
failed to adopt Rules of Procedure for an entire year.  It can’t be taken over by non-residents.  
You keep trying to dictate who can be on this board.  This is a bad way to run.   Look at Section 
8.1 – You should replace it with what the Select Board adopted.  It reads in your copy: 

PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY Robert’s Rules of Order Revised, latest edition, shall 
govern all questions of procedure that are not otherwise provided by these rules or by state 
law. 

2. Terry Carter moved on to Approval of Minutes. 
 
 

VI. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – March 18, 2025 
                      

1. Terry Carter said the minutes are from March 18, 2025 
2. MOTION by Terry Carter and seconded by Jean Strong to approve the minutes from 

March 18, 2025 as presented.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
     

VII. SHORT TERM RENTAL DISCUSSION (NEW ITEM ADDED) 
  

1. Terry Carter said that THE VERMONT JOURNAL mentioned something about a Fee Basis 
2. Noah Schmidt said budget.  He said that Justin Hyjek suggested a permit fee of $500 for the 

registration fee and Terry Carter suggested $300 for homesteaders’; rate. 
3. Ryan Silvestri said we need to create a budget that will include a new full time fire 

fighter/inspector position.  He said that Granicus’ proposal for data mining was $27,000.  
Adding modules for compliance, letters, and a platform for neighbor reporting issues.  He 
estimated a total of about $60,000.  He said this will go out to bid.  Then, about $80,000 to 
$90,000 for the full time fire fighter/inspector position for a total estimated budget of about 
$140,000. The volume is about 1,100 independent listings.  Postage, administering of the 
registry for the 1 year  - if 15% compliant, 

4. Terry Carter said that the Select Board said for us to start.   
5. Ryan Silvestri said an average night’s stay is about $500 - $600 and 15% of 1,100 units is 165.  

This would nowhere cover a budget, but it would ramp up in 2 to 3 years. 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

6. Terry Carter said the vendor will send out the letters of enforcement 
7. Ryan Silvestri said they would enforce the ordinances that we set.  Someone in the Municipal 

office would deal with the vendor. 
8. Terry Carter said that Plymouth has 2 people in the office and only 55 rentals. 
9. Ryan Silvestri said that fees can always be lowered.  We need to get some true costs and put 

this out to bid.  We need those numbers before we go too far. 
10. Jean Strong said she is ok with the fees. 
11. Terry Carter said that she has looked at ordinances from other towns and they are all pretty 

much the same. 
12. Noah Schmidt said the Select Board is on-board.  He asked about fees for residential apartments 

– would they have separate fees.  We want to encourage long term rentals –maybe lesser fees, 
but stills safe. 

13. Terry Carter said she wants to get on the May agendas for the Select Board and Trustees.  She 
asked Chief Ben Whalen about occupancy. 

14. Chief Ben Whalen said that he disagrees with self-certification for occupancies 0f 8 or less.  He 
said that people may not be all that truthful.  He said that occupancy is bed spaces, NOT 
bedrooms.  He said that when he was Fire Marshall, they looked at spaces.  A twin bed was one 
and full bed was 2.  He said that is how he looks at it.  He is against self-certification and thinks 
all units should be inspected.  He said that locals staying in apartments – just how safe are those 
apartments – windows, detectors. 

15. Noah Schmidt said that with 1000 units, it is not realistic to inspect all in one year.  If we did 
allow self –certification for the 1st year and within 3 years have an inspection. 

16. Chief Ben Whalen said the higher the risk, the higher the hazard, the higher the occupancy.  If 
the list of self-certifiers for 3 years, will they say only 8.  You have to register.  An inspection in 
the ordinance if the inspector deems needed. 

17. Ryan Silvestri said we do have data.  If they say less than 8 and the list say greater than 8, this 
is a discrepancy and an inspection sooner than later.  We need to get them registered. Does what 
they say match the data we have. 

18. Terry Carter said they have to be available for inspections. 
19. Chief Ben Whalen said the town can get an MOU with the State and it may not be difficult to 

obtain.  It will give us more available information and we will know if a unit have recently been 
inspected.  How often should a unit be inspected?  Yearly is not possible.  He said 2 to 5 years 
for re-inspection – eventually. 

20. Ryan Silvestri said we can track the changes in inspections if the listings change it will send up 
a flag. 

21. Terry Carter said occupancy of 8 or less can self-certify in the 1st year with expectation that all 
units will be inspected within 2 to 5 years, and be open to spot inspections. 

22. Chief Ben Whalen said if we have an MOU with the State, we have the authority for spot 
inspections. 

23. Ryan Silvestri asked, if we have an MOU with the State, does the State pay Ludlow for the 
inspections. 

24. Chief Ben Whalen said with an MOU, the State says that Ludlow has some or one – trained and 
certified inspector.  The State will not collect the inspection fees.  He cautioned the board to 
check with Chester about Granicus.  He said to follow the bid process and pick the product best 
suited for Ludlow’s needs.   A rental is a rental and the operator must be available.  He said that 
the town of Peru has a 15 minute drive time – the caretaker available in a 15 minute drive.  He 
said the reason is that the Fire Department is usually the “frequent flyer.”  Most are false alarms 
and we don’t want to be standing around for someone to let us in.  

25. Terry Carter asked about a Knox box. 
26. Chief Ben Whalen said he will get the board firmer numbers about salary and benefits, vehicle 

maintenance, IT,  



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

27. Terry Carter asked about a Knox box.  She said that Pete Kolenda didn’t care. 
28. Chief Ben Whalen said it is hard to tell 1,100 units that they should have one or rekey with one 

master.  A Knox box should be required for anything greater that a single family home.  He said 
that there is a Knox box for properties on the Mountain or they are in the process of getting one. 

29. Ryan Silvestri said the buildings are sprinklered and you should be able to operate the system.  
There are some high occupancy units that are sprinklered. 

30. Scott Baitz said that Ledgewood does not have a Knox box. but the rental unit does have one 
and no one will give a key to the rental  

31. Chief Ben Whalen said that he has no key to any unit in town.  They have a Knox box – a safe 
mounted on the wall.  We are the only ones with the key to the box.  So far it works well in 
Ludlow and other communities. 

32. Scott Baitz asked if the key is just for Chief Ben Whalen 
33. Chief Ben Whalen said for the fire department and they are the only ones with the key. 
34. Noah Schmidt said it prevents the fire department from knocking in the door 
35. Chief Ben Whalen said if the caretaker is close ok, but if there is smoke coming out, we break 

in.  Insurance – said it is included for people. 
36. Terry Carter said Londonderry and Chester have $1,000,000. 
37. Noah Schmidt asked why it is important 
38. Chief Ben Whalen said to provide for people in the units and the owners.  He said that their 

belongings are lost.  If we enforce – an ordinance – what liability are we putting on the Town?  
With insurance, the liability is on the owner. 

39. Scott Baitz asked, if we say $1,000,000 and it is not enough, who is responsible for the 
difference 

40. Ryan Silvestri said he does not know how we would police it.  If the owner rents, we need to 
educate people. He asked, if we do suggest an amount, and it comes up short, does it come back 
to us. 

41. Ted Stryhas said they need to have the insurance that is required by the insurance company 
42. Chief Ben Whalen said it is important to have insurance, we have more rentals than other towns 

do. 
43. Ryan Silvestri said people need to ask their insurance adjuster. 
44. Chief Ben Whalen suggested we check with the town attorney. 
45. Noah Schmidt said that in his apartment building, $1,000,000 would be too low.  He said the 

insurance don’t inspect for space.  Don’t rely on the insurance companies.  We don’t require 
insurance for any other business, why now. 

46. Chief Ben Whalen said if and when this takes effect, there will be a lot of places not granted 
occupancy.  State statute says if it is a single family it is your dwelling, it may not have 
windows or smoke rules, but it may not be safe.   

47. He said of Air B&B and VRBO – with occupancies of 9+ , there are 176 listings (some may be 
duplicates)  15 – 40% of Jackson Gore or Winterplace- are inspected.  A good chuck will need 
inspections.   

48. Chief Ben Whalen said there are over 200 – 300 with 9+.  You can change the search criteria. 
There is one that says 10 and there are 11 beds. 

49. Terry Carter said she will put this information into the sample ordinance for the Trustees and 
Select Board.  It is not our job to write ordinances. 

50. Noah Schmidt said that it will require numbers from the vendors.  He will check with Granicus, 
Gov Os, Patriot etc. 

51. Terry Carter said that Granicus was fired by Chester. 
52. Chief Ben Whalen said Chester did not get the product they wanted. 
53. Ryan Silvestri asked about things for the vehicle – EMS items 
54. Chief Ben Whalen said the Fire Marshalls’ vehicles have AEDs, small jump bag 
 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

  
VIII. VILLAGE PEDESTRIAN SAFETY: 

  
1. Terry Carter said that Justin Hyjek asked the board to bring this up.  There have been a lot of 

near misses by Main and Mountain and The Hostel.  We are allowed to reduce the speed limit 
from bridge to bridge. 

2. Noah Schmidt asked if there has been a speed study done recently.  He added that lowering the 
speed limit does not always change the way people drive. 

3. Ryan Silvestri said we need better signage and to narrow the road, possibly cones down the 
middle 

4. Terry Carter said that other towns enforce speed limits. 
5. Ted Stryhas said we need to look at the speed by the Fire Station.  He said we need to look at 

both pedestrian crossing as well as speed from bridge to bridge. 
6. Ryan Silvestri said historically not changing the speed limit.  He agrees with 25 MPH 
7. Ted Stryhas said that blinking speed signs work. 
8. Ryan Silvestri said there is a crosswalk sign by Brewfest with a button, but what does the 

button do 
9. Noah Schmidt said it flashes the lights on top. 
10. Scott Baitz said he would like to lower the speed limit not only bridge to bridge but also to the 

library and Benson’s. 
11. Terry Carter said that the state is responsible for the areas outside of bridge to bridge. 
12. Ryan Silvestri said that State owned flashers are orange.  Town owned are yellow.  By the 

Preservation District is yellow.  If over 40 mph, it flashes red/blue, SLOW DOWN.  Where we 
can control Red/Blue, where the State controls – orange..  Pedestrian crosswalks, 12 feet wide 
with good signage. 

13. Terry Carter said the traffic light doesn’t stop traffic if pedestrians push that button and Brendan 
McNamara said it can’t be fixed 

14. Noah Schmidt said that Brandon designed the traffic flow so you don’t go too fast.  He said that 
the road form the High School to the Library is wide and we can’t do anything now with the 
paving project going on.  He said that we could widen sidewalks and put in grassy areas.  He 
said that Bridgewater and Plymouth give too many tickers and are predatory. 

15. Ryan Silvestri said it is in their budgets to issue tickets. 
16. Noah Schmidt said cars in Ludlow go slower in the winter with cars parked along the street. 
17. Terry Carter said that Aaron Galley suggested diagonal parking but it got shut down.  She 

suggested an overhead banner by the crosswalk by Brewfest. 
18. Ryan Silvestri said the speed signs with blue and red make people more alert.  We need to start 

somewhere. 
19. Scott Baitz said this is all years out. 
20. Ryan Silvestri asked if we could do diagonal parking by the library. 
21. Noah Schmidt said that state controls that area. 
22. Jean Strong said there are things we can do: change the speed limit, the sidewalks are not safe 

and there are no sidewalks by Dunkin’ Donuts, and the crosswalk by Brewfest. 
23. Terry Carter said that the Planning Commission survey indicated that people want more 

sidewalks. 
24. Ryan Silvestri said we need to hire an engineer to tell us what we can and cannot do.  A plan 

stamped by an engineer. He added that the street is wide in the Preservation area. 
25. Noah Schmidt said we should look at sidewalks and trees to the road.  He did not think the 

banner is a good idea. 
26. Ted Stryhas agreed about the banner. 
27. Terry Carter said the FEMA buyout by Mill Street – we can create a green space. It would be a 

brownfield and have to be mitigated.  There is money to mitigate brownfields. 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

28. Noah Schmidt said they need a sidewalk on Pleasant Street to the pedestrian bridge. 
29. Eric Alden said that bridge is unsafe – you step off into the street.  They could do crosswalks 

and an island.  He said that everything is 10 to 15 years down the road. 
30. MOTION by Ryan Silvestri and seconded by Terry Carter for the Planning Commission 

to propose to the Trustees to hire a traffic engineer to do an analysis for pedestrian and 
traffic improvements starting bridge to the fire station. 

31. Noah Schmidt asked if there are pedestrian surveys and suggested one from the Legion to 
Aubuchons to DJ’s and the Homestyle to Main and Mountain. 

32. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

 
IX. NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT AREAS 

                        
1. Terry Carter said this is ready to go because the Subdivision Regulations have been approved.  

She added that Jason Rasmussen and Erin Ladd are coming up with the application. 
2. Noah Schmidt said that the NDA happens it will make it easier to develop.  The Downtown 

Center helped too.  He said when going through the process, we should come up with a quick 
information sheet to have in the Planning and Zoning office about funding availabilities 

3. Terry Carter said that she attended a workshop and sent the information to Diane Knight and 
will check on it. 

4. Ryan Silvestri said that would be the responsibility of the Planning Director – if we had one.  
He said that is the only way tangible changes will happen 

  
 

X. YEARLY GOALS – FROM THE TOWN PLAN OR CURRENT NEEDS 
 

1.        Terry Carter said suggested that  we table this until the next meeting as Judy Pullinen feels 
strongly about this. 

 
 

XI. REVIEW VENDOR PERMIT POLICY AS REQUESTED BY VILLAGE TRUSTEES 
 

1.        Terry Carter asked board members to read over the ordinance. 
2. Lauren Nazzaro said the ordinance is mostly for safety only and does not look out for the 

businesses in town or how a vendor would affect other businesses.  There is no reason not to 
approve a permit.  People felt it was wrong, and that it was an oversight. It doesn’t look out for 
brick and mortar businesses.  They are transient – in and out, but take away business from 
businesses in town. 

3. Terry Carter asked if the truck did take away business from theirs. 
4. Lauren Nazzaro said yes. 
5. Nick Arduini said since the truck has arrived, he is surprised how many people how it was 

allowed to park in that location – so close to us. 
6. Lauren Nazzaro said permission should be needed from adjacent businesses or a specific 

distance from an existing business.  Maybe there should be specific areas set aside for food 
trucks.  They have the exact business model as we have. 

7. Noah Schmidt said that Smokin’ Bowls in Chester built an area in the outskirts of town – it 
stands alone 

8. Ryan Silvestri said they have a 150 day permit. 
9. Lauren Nazzaro said the permit expires in July. 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

10. Jean Strong said that Sunoco has a parking permit, how many spaces are required.  The truck 
has outside lighting that is very bright.  Does Sunoco have a lease with the truck.  What about 
bathrooms. 

11. Lauren Nazzaro said they use the Sunoco bathroom, get water and ice from Sunoco and gas up 
there. 

12. Jean Strong said she will look into Sunoco’s permit. 
13. Eric Alden said that Sunoco has more parking than is required for their permit. He said this is a 

slippery slope, trying to restrict a business that is operating in town.  Some businesses have 
non-compete clauses.  Perhaps they could add a “buffer zone” to the ordinance for same type 
businesses, or non-compete in certain areas. 

14. Terry Carter suggested adding 100 feet 
15. Noah Schmidt said 100 feet is too short.  He said non-compete or approval of abutting 

businesses. 
16. Ted Stryhas said that he supports the brick and mortar businesses and he asked about signage 

on the truck – we have sign regulations.  There should be something about that. 
17. Jean Strong asked about the length of time 
18. Ryan Silvestri said typically, they are not in the same place every day.  He cautioned about non-

compete and that it could become very specific.  We need to think more about the 150 day 
period.  The fee is capped at $250  

19. Jean Strong said she wants to see Sunoco’s parking permit and about subletting space. 
20. Terry Carter suggested looking into lighting and signage 
21. Noah Schmidt asked if there is a number for take-out spaces. 
22. Ryan Silvestri said probability minimal 
23. Noah Schmidt said we need to be careful – the Village approved the Farmers’ Market 
24. Terry Carter said Farmers’ Markets are encouraged in the Town Plan.  She said the Farmers’ 

Market went to other businesses in town.  Originally Ellison’s’ and The Hatchery were 
opposed, but now only The Hatchery. 

25. Eric Alden said surrounding businesses have a say.  There needs to be a more intense 
conversation. 

26. Lauren Nazzaro said that other towns have exceptions.  The truck has been there 3 – 4 weeks 
and their permit expires in July. 

27. Noah Schmidt said they may be paying rent to Sunoco 
28. Terry Carter said if they are not paying rent, it is not fair to the businesses with buildings.  The 

sign on the truck is huge. 
29. Scott Baitz said there is also a paint van that parks in town. 
30. Ryan Silvestri said moveable billboards. 
31. Nick Arduini said the truck is a billboard on wheels. 
32. Jean Strong said she will research Sunoco’s permit, subletting may not be included. 
33. Noah Schmidt said he will look at Benson’s permit 
34. Ryan Silvestri said a town in New Hampshire created specific lots for food trucks and they may 

stay no more than 3 days at a clip. He said where that truck is parked for 150 days is a hard sell 
to renew.  But we are looking at one circumstance, trucks do bring business to town. 

35. Noah Schmidt said that truck is decked out with that sign.  He likes the idea that trucks have to 
move. 

36. Terry Carter said the board will do some research. 
 
 

XII. NEXT MONTH’S AGENDA 
 

1.         Yearly Goals 
2. Town Zoning Updates 



 PLANNING COMMISSION               April 15, 2025 
Preliminary Minutes           
   
 

 

3. Short Term Rental 
a. Ryan Silvestri said we need to submit RFPs to 3rd party vendors so we can prepare a hard 

budget on how to finance and implement this. 
b. Jean Strong asked if it would be this year’s budget. 
c. Terry Carter said Noah Schmidt is going to get preliminaries to vendors. 

4. Vendor Ordinance 
 

XIII.   OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. Terry Carter said there is no other business 
a. . 
b. Rose Goings said the Select Board would have to do that 

 
2. Citizen Comments – (5 minutes) 

a. There were none. 
 
 

XIV.  ADJOURN 
 

1. MOTION by Terry Carter and seconded by Ryan Silvestri to adjourn this meeting.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

2. Meeting adjourned at 7:48 p.m. 
  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lisha Klaiber 
 
 
 
 
Terry Carter, Chairman  

  
Jean Strong 

 
 
 
Judy Pullinen 

  
 
 
 Ted Stryhas   

 
 
   
 Ryan Silvestri 
 

  

 


